
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Performance and 
Administration Cabinet 

Committee

Members of the Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough 
Council are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on 
Wednesday, 9 June 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is 
proposed to be transacted.

The Government legislation in response to Covid-19 to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members has now expired. Therefore, this meeting will be conducted in person and with socially 
distanced Elected Members and officers in attendance.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

3. To declare any interest Members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what their 
interest is. 

4. To considered whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 4 2020/21  (Pages 7 - 18)

6. Information Governance Annual Report 2020/21 (Pages 19 - 26)



7. Low Income Family Tracker (LIFT) Service (Pages 27 - 32)

8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B 
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Samir Jassal
Elizabeth Mulheran
Gurbax Singh

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee

Thursday, 25 March 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Gary Harding
Jordan Meade
Elizabeth Mulheran
Gurbax Singh

Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services)
Pat Knight Head of Revenues & Benefits
James Larkin Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Michelle Batstone Corporate Change Manager
Chris Wakeford Committee Services Manager (minutes)

92. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Leslie Hills. Cllr Jordan Meade attended as 
his substitute.

93. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 10 February 2021 were signed by the 
Chair.

94. Declarations of interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

95. Review of the Working in Partnership Framework 

The Corporate Change Manager presented the Committee with a draft of the updated 
Working in Partnership Framework and highlighted the following:

 Specific changes that have been made to the draft Working in Partnership 
Framework:
- Amendments to the definition of a partnership to clearly set out the various types 

of joint working activities the council is engaged in. This has included revising the 
financial threshold for a significant partnership to £50,000.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 25.03.2021

2

- Provisions for commencing partnership or joint working where there is an urgent 
need (ad hoc arrangements).

- Clarification of the approval process for all forms of partnerships and joint working 
arrangements

- Reference to the council’s revised Equalities Aims and Objectives and the 
requirement for new partnership arrangements to demonstrate how they are able 
to contribute to these.

- Reference to the council’s Climate Change commitment, ensuring consideration 
is given to how a partnership may support the borough in mitigating climate 
change.

- A detailed breakdown of the governance requirements for shared working 
arrangements.

- Clarification of the roles and responsibilities of council Officers and Members with 
regards to partnerships and joint working arrangements that the council has 
engaged in.

- Updates to the annual review process for partnerships and shared working 
arrangements to reflect the introduction of a revised approach for reviewing 
shared service arrangements from year three onwards.

 Following review by the Performance & Administration Committee, the report will be 
presented to Cabinet for approval, followed by submission to Full Council for formal 
adoption into the council’s Policy Framework.

The Corporate Change Manager fielded questions from the Committee and highlighted the 
following:

 If specific equipment was needed in a shared service then this would be assessed on 
its own merit and costs would either be shared or taken on board by the host 
authority.

 The Corporate Change Manager undertook to look into the inclusion of customers 
and residents under the ‘Do Nothing’ Risks; and present this to Cabinet for 
consideration.

 An ‘urgent need’ for a partnership or joint-working arrangement refers to those 
arrangements that need to be in place within a matter of days to ensure services can 
be maintained/delivered to the community. The Corporate Change Manager 
undertook to look at clearly setting out criteria for defining an ‘urgent need’ in relation 
to partnerships, and update the Framework accordingly.

 There are some partnerships that would go from being classified as ‘significant’ to 
‘other’ under the updated Framework but they will still be included within the register 
of partnerships and reported to Members in the same way.

 If a partnership was critical to delivery of council services but didn’t fully support all of 
the council’s climate change ambitions, it wouldn’t mean we wouldn’t work with them 
but we would need to consider their commitments alongside our own.

 An example of an ‘Informal network’ is the Kent Finance Officers Group that is used 
as an important information sharing tool; it’s not formal but is very useful to be 
involved in.

 The Corporate Change Manager undertook to revisit the wording in relation to 
reference to an ‘Exit Strategy’ and the ‘indefinite’ arrangements detailed in the 
appendices of the Framework.

Page 4



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 25.03.2021

3

The Committee noted the updated Working in Partnership Framework and the comments 
that Members had provided at the meeting.

96. COVID-19 Portfolio Update 

The Director (Corporate Services) provided the Committee with an update against how the 
council has responded to the COVID pandemic, both in terms of specific activities in 
response to the pandemic and how the council has managed to maintain service delivery 
across council services. 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits highlighted the following:

 There have been fourteen  different  grant schemes concerning business and 
business rates  and there will be another one from 1 April 2021

 £1.5billion will be split between Local Authorities to award in respect of those 
businesses affected by Covid 19. GBC should be informed how much they will 
receive in the next two to three weeks. 

 GBC was in the top four authorities in the country for the speed at which grants were 
distributed. From March 2020 to October 2020 just over £15million was distributed.

 The second series of grants ran from November 2020 to the end of March 2021. To 
date £6.6million has been distributed in respect of seven grant schemes for that 
period.

 The Council has undertaken the proper due diligence with the grant schemes and to 
date there have been no fraudulent cases detected.

 GBC received £893,000 to pay to vulnerable people and households. The idea was 
to target working age claimants and provide £150 by way of credit on Council Tax. 
Some people were also awarded an extra £20 a week; GBC used some of the 
awarded money to offset the loss of benefit. To date just over 6000 claimants have 
received payment.

 From 28 September 2020; anyone who received a positive Covid-19 test and was 
eligible was able to receive £500 Isolation Payment. To date GBC has paid out 
£168,000 to Gravesham residents

The Director (Corporate Services), the Head of Revenues & Benefits and the Head of 
Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service  fielded questions from the Committee and 
highlighted the following:

 In terms of post payment assurance; the Council recently submitted data to the 
Cabinet Office on the first three rounds of grants and using intelligence alerts from 
the National Anti-fraud Network, all payments were checked against a list of bank 
accounts thought to be linked to organised crime, providing assurance that no 
payments have been issued to these particular accounts. So far no fraudulent cases 
have been identified despite a small handful of referrals received. The Council is also 
planning further post payment assurance activity.

 The Council tried to maximise the take-up of grant schemes but some claimants 
didn’t meet the criteria (e.g. failing to provide evidence for self-isolation)

 Checking that people are self-isolating does not fall within the Council’s remit.
 Staff have been made aware that they can claim tax relief for working from home.

Page 5



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 25.03.2021

4

 The Low Income Family Tracker is a shared initiative brought in by KCC. The product 
takes various data sets and GBC gains intelligence about its customers which can be 
used to try and make better informed strategic decisions, get better take up and
identify customers who are approaching financial crisis.

 The Council is commencing its work to reduce the number of people in financial crisis 
via a pension credit take up campaign, promoting discretionary housing payments, 
and improving Council Tax recovery.

 The Council will undertake a campaign for the Council Tax Reduction Scheme. The 
Council will identify those households who are financially struggling and try and 
assist them.  This will help Council Tax recovery and minimise the amount of money 
GBC need to collect.

 At the end of February 2021 there was £ 50,000 left in the Discretionary Housing 
Payment fund. The Council will work to spend every penny by next Tuesday

 Citizens Access is an online account service for Council Tax and Business rates that 
allows you to check accounts, direct debits, look at balances and payments etc. The 
Head of Revenues & Benefits is keen to add benefits to Citizens Access as soon as 
possible.

The Committee noted the Covid-19 Portfolio Update and commended the excellent work of 
all the officers involved.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.22 pm

Page 6



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee

Date: 9 June 2021

Reporting officer: Pat Knight - Head of Revenues and Benefits

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Four 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Performance & Administration Committee with an update against 
the Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, 
for Quarter Four 2020-21 (January to March 2021). 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Performance & 
Administration Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance 
against the Corporate Plan for Quarter Four 2020-21, covering the period January 
to March 2021. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

2.4 This report is for information purposes only.

3. Background papers

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 8



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The Plan ensures the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initiatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 9

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 10



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P E R F O R M A N C E  &  A D M I N
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  4  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 11



P I  23 Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

12.6 12.7 12.2 12.8 15.9 13.8 12.8 12.4

P I  24 Average processing time for changes of circumstance in Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5.2 4.9 4.8 4.0 3.6 3.3 3.4 2.9

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

 1. Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible to 

all. 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Service performance has continued to improve and remains comparatively strong. This is against the 

backdrop of exceptional resourcing pressures placed on the service due to the implementation of 

Covid-19 measures such as the payment of Test and Trace Self-Isolation Grants and application of 

council tax hardship payments for working age claimants. The improved level of performance has 

been a direct result of refined processes and service automation.

Demonstrating this improvement are the core service outturns for 2020-21 relating to:

 - PI 23 Average Processing time for housing benefit claims. At 12.4 days, this represents an 

improvement to the previous year outturn of 12.8 days. To put that into context, this compares 

favourably with the latest published National Figures (Q2 2020-2021) of 17 days and Kent & Medway 

councils also 17 days.     

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

 - PI 24 Average processing time to assess changes of circumstances for housing benefit claims. At 

2.9 days, this represents an improvement compared to the previous year outturn of 4 days. Again, this 

compares favourably with the latest published National Figures (Q3 2020-2021) of 6 days and Kent & 

Medway councils also of 6 days.

Revenues & Benefits update - Pat Knight

5

10

15

20

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

2

4

6

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

P
age 12



P I  26 Total number of reported corporate complaints

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

73 82 44 56 41 52 52 64

O U T T U R N

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

 2. Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible to 

all. 

Corporate Complaints update - Simon Walsh

PI 26: During Q4 there were 64 corporate complaints compared to 53 in Q3. There were 58 at Stage 1, 

4 at Stage 2 and 2 at Stage 3, with 41 of the cases meeting the 15 day response deadline (64%). The 

complaints were spread across a number of services and are set out below:

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE 

25

50

75

100

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

P
age 13



P I  50 Total number of people signed up to citizens access

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

103 1,519 2,757 4,484 5,453 6,328 7,211 8,594

O U T T U R N 

"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."

#3 PROGRESS

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

P
age 14



P I  49 % of posts involved in shared service arrangements

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

6.1% 6.0%Annual indicator

In March 2021, the council welcomed back a team from the Local Government Association (LGA) to 

undertake a follow-up review of the council, following the original Peer Challenge in October 2019.  

The LGA Team reviewed the way in which the council addressed the previous recommendations and 

also looked to identify if there were any other areas where additional focus from the council would be 

beneficial.  The council is currently reviewing the draft report and feedback and once finalised, the 

report will be presented to Cabinet alongside an updated action plan for approval.

The review of the Working in Partnership Framework for the council has been completed, with the 

draft Framework presented to the Performance & Administration Committee in March 2021 for 

comment.  The review included provision of a revised annual review process for shared services to 

ensure they are continuing to provide a good service to the council and its partners.  This will 

subsequently be presented to Cabinet and Full Council in June 2021 for adoption.

1. Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council: implement a programme of 

‘continuous change’, overhauling business processes and delivering new, innovative service design.

O U T T U R N

Annual indicator

"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."

#3 PROGRESSP O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

P
age 15



P I  55 % of internal audit recommendations implemented

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

70.6% 75.0% 73.1% 76.2% 62.5% 67.7% 62.5% 73.5%

Counter Fraud: Investigation activity during 2020-21 has been limited to desktop enquiries due to the 

coronavirus restrictions, which have prevented some usual activity, such as home visits. There has 

been a focus on review of the National Fraud Initiative matches received as part of the 2019-20 

exercise, which relates to potential incorrect single persons discounts for council tax.

Investigation activity during the year has led to the following;

• Additional council tax (historic liability) of £48,159.25.

• Additional council tax liability of £19,408.84 for future years.

• Civil penalties totalling £490.00

• Housing Benefit overpayments of £16,677.05

• Two council properties recovered (notional savings of £186,000).

• One person removed from the housing waiting list (notional saving of £4,000). 

• One fraudulent right to buy prevented (prevented loss of £84,200).

• Two resignations linked to disciplinary investigations.

Involvement in internal disciplinary investigations has also led to one dismissal and three resignations 

prior to formal action. 

Counter fraud reviews of the arrangements around lone workers and staff leave booking were also 

completed during the year.

Internal Audit: Members will be aware that following the initial pandemic response, the annual workplan for 2020-

21 was revised to allow for a period of recovery following the shutdown of the audit & counter fraud service as 

non-critical. 

The Finance & Audit Committee received two updates on progress against the revised annual workplan during 

the financial year. As of 31 March 2021, 95% of the agreed assurance reviews had been delivered (audit 

fieldwork completed), which meets the target set as part of the quality assurance and improvement programme 

agreed by Members in February 2020.

The Internal Audit team has a performance indicator relating to the implementation of agreed recommendations 

(PI 55). At the end of Q4, 13 recommendations remained outstanding:

• Investigating a scheme working with private landlords to help prevent homelessness

• Agreements being put in place for all enforcement services

• Reviewing procedures for the regular testing of IT back-up arrangements

• Guidance / procedure notes for staff relating to tenancy enforcement actions  

• Equality, Diversity & Safeguarding training for dealing with unauthorised encampments 

• A review of the information relating to Flexi, TOIL and overtime on the intranet

• Managers being reminded of their responsibilities in relation to Flexi, TOIL and overtime

• The creation of a council overtime policy document

• Service managers being reminded of overtime rates, including guidelines for part time staff and working time 

directives

• A strategy document for the council’s apprenticeship scheme

• A new process to ensure apprenticeships are promoted and considered at the earliest stage of recruitment

• A review of the apprenticeship policy, and

• Arrangements for checks to be undertaken of all payments to and from the Apprenticeship Service Account to 

ensure accuracy.

Details of all recommendations agreed, implemented and outstanding are provided to the council’s Finance & 

Audit Committee as part of the quarterly and annual A&CF update reports. 
Counter Fraud update - James Larkin 

O U T T U R N

#3 PROGRESSP O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and benchmarked performance 

management framework, delivered by services underpinned with sound internal controls. 
"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."
Internal Audit update - James Larkin 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

P
age 16



P I  56 % of information requests completed within statutory deadline

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

86% 86% 86% 84% 83% 88% 84% 86%

"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."

The Information Governance Team have continued to support council services and especially officers 

responsible for handling information requests. Some requests have proved particularly challenging and 

the IG Team’s expertise in the area of application of exemptions has been sought on many occasions.

 

In addition to this regular one to one support, we have also delivered training on the practical 

application of the Freedom of Information Act and the Environmental Information Regulation. This 

training was delivered to all managers above service manager level and all officers who handle 

requests regularly. 

 

The broader aspect of the IG Team’s work also covers data protection. This quarter has seen the first 

review of some of the council’s information governance and data protection policies and notably to 

bring them in line with the changes due to the UKs exit from the EU and ensuring these policies are 

compliant with the new UK GDPR. These policy reviews will continue as agreements regards the 

processing of data between the UK, the EU and other countries progresses. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

During the quarter the council also concluded its activity to assess risks to acheiving its strategic 

objectives, with the Strategic Risk Register 2021-22 approved by Full Council in April 2021.

O U T T U R N

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T #3 PROGRESS
4. Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy, 

constitutional and legislative demands.

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee

Date: Wednesday 9 June 2021

Reporting officer: Gayle Jones, Information Governance Manager & DPO

Subject: Information Governance Annual Report: 2020-2021

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report is intended to provide Members of the Performance & Administration Committee, 
(whose terms of reference includes information governance) with an overview of the current 
arrangements within the council to strategically manage information, including compliance 
with key standards.

Recommendations:
This report is for information only.

1. Introduction
1.1 The term Information Governance relates to the framework to support legal 

compliance, transparency and risk management in managing information 
managed and handled by the council in whatever medium it is held, balancing 
these requirements against the objectives of the council to deliver effective 
services.

1.2 The Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) has overall responsibility for managing 
information risk in the council and chairs the Information Governance Strategy 
Group. The SIRO is the Director (Corporate Services) who has responsibility to:

 foster a culture for protecting and using information within the council 
 ensure arrangements are in place to deliver information governance 

compliance with legislation and council policies 
 provide a focal point for managing information risks and incidents 
 prepare an annual information risk assessment for the council. 
The Assistant Director (Transformation and IT) is designated as the Deputy Senior 
Information Risk Officer.

1.3 By working alongside Cabinet, Management Team, the Information Governance 
Team, IT and other key stakeholders, the SIRO aims to create a culture in which 
information is valued as an asset and information risk is managed in a realistic 
and effective manner. 

Page 19 Agenda Item 6



2

1.4 It is vital that the SIRO engages with the above stakeholders across the Council, 
to ensure a “golden thread” of good information governance combined with the 
corporate oversight.  

2. Information Governance Management Framework
2.1 Gravesham Borough Council’s Code of Corporate Governance states:

“Governance is about how authorities ensure they are providing the right services 
to the right people in a timely, open, honest and accountable manner.”

2.2 It is essential that the council has a robust information governance management 
framework, to ensure that information is effectively managed with accountability 
structures, governance processes, documented policies and procedures, staff 
training and adequate resources. 

2.3 Since 2016 the council has operated a shared service arrangement, hosted by 
Medway Council, to provide resource to support its Information Governance 
arrangements.

2.4 To ensure the council meets the requirements of the code, the Information 
Governance Manager has developed the council’s Information Governance 
Management Framework. This is available to all officers and members via the 
intranet. 

2.5 This framework and the supporting standards will be monitored and reviewed bi-
annually in line with legislation and codes of best practice. The next review is due 
September 2021.

Page 20



3

3. Policy Review
3.1 The Information Governance Team has developed a suite of policies intended to 

provide the principles by which its information governance arrangements will be 
directed. These policies are reviewed on at least a bi-annual basis for 
consideration and approval by the Information Governance Strategy Group and 
Management Team. Where there is release of new national guidance or 
legislation, policies are created/amended to reflect this. The current timetable for 
policy review is as follows:

Policy Title Review Date

Data Protection Policy January 2023

Data Breach Policy October 2022

Information Sharing Policy May 2023

Records Management Policy July 2021

Anonymisation and Pseudonymisation Policy May 2023

4. Freedom of Information and Environmental Information Requests
4.1 The Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 2000 provides the ability for members of the 

public to request information from public authorities.  The Environmental 
Information (EIR) Act 2004 provides the ability for members of the public to 
request environmental information from public authorities.
The table below shows the number of FOI and EIR requests received by the 
council during 2020/2021. In comparison to last year, the total number of requests 
has decreased by 8% from 655 in 2019/2020.  Noting the decrease in requests in 
Q1, this is considered to be most likely as a result of the pandemic.

FOI & EIR Requests
2020-21

Number of requests 
received (Total 602)

% of responses within 20 
working days

Q1 107 83%

Q2 162 88%

Q3 165 84%

Q4 168 86%

5. Subject Access Requests
5.1 Under Data Protection legislation, an individual can make a Subject Access 

Request (SAR) to obtain a copy of their personal data being processed by an 
organisation. The table below shows the number of SARs received by the council 
during for 2020/2021. 
In comparison to last year, the total number of requests decreased by 45% from 
11 in 2019/2020.

SAR Requests
2020-21

Number of requests 
received

% of responses within 1 month 
(rounded to 30 days for statistical 

purposes)

Total 5 40%

Page 21



4

6. Data Incidents
6.1 A data incident is defined as any event that results, or may result, in the potential 

for unauthorised access to, loss or destruction of personal data. 
6.2 During 2020-21 the council recorded 14 data incidents; 12 were assessed as 

human error and two were related to technical issues.  None of these incidents 
were deemed to be a personal data breach which require reporting to the 
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO).

6.3 During the year the Information Governance Team has worked with IT Services to 
introduce a Data Incident Classification process, intended to facilitate identification 
of risks and trends which in turn will inform any mitigation measures required i.e. 
the need for process reviews or additional officer training.

6.4 In 2021-22 the Information Governance Team will work with IT Services to expand 
the reporting arrangements to include IT security incidents into the process. This 
will enable the council to develop a comprehensive overview of the number and 
type of incidents taking place and develop its arrangements to mitigate identified 
risks.

7. Publication Scheme
7.1 The Freedom of Information Act 2000 requires that every public authority has a 

Publication Scheme, which provides a reference point for members of the public 
to understand the information the council holds and the categories of information it 
will publish and make available.  The ICO has created a model publication 
scheme that all public authorities must use. 

7.2 The council’s Publication Scheme is currently under review, with this expected to 
be completed by Summer 2021.

8. Training
8.1 Training forms a key part of maintaining the council’s Information Governance 

arrangements, 

8.2 In February 2021, FOI and EIR training was delivered to all managers above 
Service Manager level and all officers who regularly handle requests for 
information.

8.3 Data Protection training was last delivered to all council officers who handle 
personal data and Members in 2018. Refresher training is scheduled to be 
delivered in 2021-22.

9. Looking Forward
9.1 There is a significant portfolio of work that the council will be undertaking to 

continue to maintain, develop and enhance its information governance 
arrangements.  The following sets out the main priorities for the Information 
Governance Team over the next year:

Page 22



5

• Ongoing GDPR Compliance workGDPR

• Reviewing Information Governance Policies
• Introduction of new Information Governance policiesPolicy

• Rollout new data incident process and reporting system.Data Incident Process

• Work with Services to reduce the need to create paper records and 
destroy records in line with the retention scheduleRecords Management

• Work with Information Asset Owners to embed information risk 
management to assist understanding of responsibilities.Risk Management

10. Summary
10.1 Good Information Governance enables officers and Members to perform their 

roles in a supportive way whilst ensuring they remain compliant, provide the 
necessary safeguards to protect personal information, are proactive in storing, 
managing and eventually destroying information in line with the retention schedule 
and do all of these in a secure way.

10.2 The public need to trust that the council are taking its role as guardian of their 
information seriously and the council can provide that reassurance by having 
robust and resilient systems and processes in place. The SIRO and the 
Information Governance team will continue to support, advise, challenge and 
question the working practices of services. The benefits of doing this will lead to 
staff being more confident and empowered in managing information and 
contribute to the successful delivery of business goals through teams having the 
right information to focus on the most effective solution to service provision.

10.3 Cyber security threats remain a global concern not just limited to councils. The 
Corporate Risk Register recognises this, and prioritises mitigations.

10.4 A proactive and multi layered approach is taken to address cyber security threats 
which include staff awareness and training, technical controls (such as firewalls 
and anti-virus software) and data backup and recovery arrangements.

10.5 The proactive areas also include continual risk assessment, regular threat 
scanning, and continuous improvement (including services made available by the 
National Cyber Security Centre Active Cyber Defence programme).

10.6 The ability to deliver services depends on the ability to have safe systems and 
reliable information.

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
11.1 Information Governance Management Framework

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 23



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal The Information Governance activity of the council is directed by a number of 
pieces of legislation.  This report is intended to provide Members with information 
on compliance with key legislation and broader information governance 
compliance.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial or value for money implications arising from this report.

Risk Assessment Ongoing review, maintenance and development of the council’s information 
governance framework arrangements contributes to ensuring the robustness of the 
overall governance arrangements of the council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #3: Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment.

Climate Change There are no direct climate change impacts from the information governance 
activity carried out by the council, however the way the council holds and stores 

Page 24

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


7

data can contribute to the pledge of the council to work towards being carbon 
neutral by 2030.

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

The council is required to publish certain types of information and maintain a 
Publication Scheme to enable members of the public to understand the information 
the council holds and the categories of information it will publish.  The council 
website is used for these purposes. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Strong information governance can contribute to safeguarding activity. 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Cabinet Committee

Date: 9 June 2021

Reporting officer: Pat Knight, (Head of Revenues and Benefits)

Subject: Low Income Family Tracker (LIFT) Project

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide an update to Members of the Performance & Administration Committee on the 
work underway to proactively identify residents who could be supported to avoid personal 
financial crisis.

Recommendations:
1. None – this paper is for information purposes only

Introduction

1.1 This initiative resulted from a Financial Hardship Task and Finish Group which 
was set up to scope and oversee work that could support those in financial 
hardship, given that the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has/will result in many 
people facing reduced or lost income. 

1.2 This group consisted of representatives from, Kent County Council, Kent Districts, 
Medway Council and other stakeholders including Citizens Advice Bureau; 
Department for Work and Pensions; and the Kent Community Foundation. 

1.3 It was envisaged that this project would not only benefit the individuals concerned 
but by preventing catastrophic social impacts it in turn prevents further costs being 
incurred by the council and reduces service demands.

1.4 It was anticipated that the situation could even get worse as furloughing ends 
along with other Covid-19 protective measures due to end and :

(a) the absolute number needing help is likely to increase still further 

(b) some of those who were ‘just about managing’ will be tipped over the                                                                                      
edge and

Page 27 Agenda Item 7



2

(c) some will find their income severely curtailed when they have never faced       
financial hardship before and are be unused to navigating the available      
support and advice 

1.5 Policy in Practice (PIP) was identified as an appropriate supplier of a ‘Low Income 
Family Tracker’ (LIFT) which brings together the monthly administrative datasets 
of a council and allows them to analyse and interrogate them via one accessible 
portal. Two Kent Districts had already utilised the product 

1.6 Gravesham Borough Council was selected along with five other Kent districts who 
had expressed an interest to engage with PIP for this particular project which is to 
be trialled for initially one year. 

2. Project to date 

2.1 A ‘kick off’ meeting was held on 17 February 2021 between the council and Policy 
In Practice representatives. The initial project has specifically targeted benefit take 
up and council tax arrears. However, should this prove successful further 
opportunities to extend to other council services such as corporate debt and 
housing will be considered.

2.2 Procedures for Secure data transfer of specific monthly datasets to PIP were 
agreed ensuring both encryption and anonymisation of personal identifier in 
accordance with national standards/ protocols and data protection requirements.

2.3 A detailed overview of the capabilities of the LIFT product was given showing 
different insights via dashboards, outlined below. 

(a) LIFT summary: This dashboard gives an overview of the low-income households 
in the borough or wards and actions that can be taken to target support.

(b) Your residents: This dashboard gives demographic information about low-
income residents in the borough. 

(c) Track your residents: This dashboard tracks the changing circumstances of 
low-income households in the borough.

(d) Outcome tracker: View the impact of a specific outreach or campaign and how it 
has affected outcomes for the residents.

(e) Impact of welfare reform: This dashboard shows the cumulative impact of 
welfare reform on each low-income household in the borough.

(f) Household finances: This dashboard compares income, expenditure and 
arrears for each low-income household in the borough.

(g) Universal Credit: This dashboard gives insights to build support plans around 
households claiming Universal Credit and council tax support in the borough.

(h) Discretionary Housing Payments: This dashboard keeps track of Discretionary 
Housing Payment (DHP) spend and identifies additional households in need of a 
DHP.

(i) Benefits take up: This dashboard gives insights to improve the take-up of 
benefits among the residents 

Page 28



3

2.4 Three Objectives were identified together with ‘success criteria’ and where 
appropriate, targeted campaigns as follows :-

2.4.1 Objective 1: To gain a better understanding of the low-income cohort in the 
Borough

Success criteria: Feel able to make better informed strategic decisions

2.4.2 Objective 2: fewer people in financial crisis in the Borough

Success Criteria: Using the Financial Resilience data concept 
demonstrates a reduction in the households in the ‘at risk’ or ‘in crisis’ 
groups. 

Campaigns:

o Pension Credit take up

o Discretionary Housing Payment take up in Private Rental 
Sector 

2.4.3 Objective 3: improve Council Tax recovery

Success Criteria: More households claiming Council Tax Reduction, 
reduced Council Tax arrears in the low-income cohort.

Campaign:

o Council Tax Reduction take up

o Identify cases where council tax affordability is low and 
successful recovery unlikely  in order to inform write offs in 
accordance with exceptional hardship policy

2.5 The council has transferred three sets of data and has received updated 
dashboards. The service is currently investigating initial results of potential 
customers who are either in or approaching ‘financial crisis’. The next step is to 
engage with customers to encourage take up of both benefits and other 
appropriate entitlements e.g., free TV licences for over 75’s where in receipt of 
Pension Credit and then track the results to identify whether success criteria has 
been met.

3. Future reports to committee

3.1 A demonstration of the Low-Income Family Tracker will take place at the next 
Performance & Administration Cabinet Committee 23 September 2021

The results of the initial campaigns will be reported at the Performance & 
Administration Cabinet Committee on 22 November 2021.

4. Background Papers

4.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 29



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications

Finance and Value 
for Money 

This has been funded from the Contain Outbreak Management Funding 

Risk Assessment The LIFT product will help identify those residents who are in or approaching 
financial crisis. This will enable the council to proactively engage, maximising 
limited resources with confidence to better support the most vulnerable residents.  
This will reduce economic and resulting health risks to those residents., 
Additionally, it will potentially reduce financial costs for both Gravesham Borough 
Council (e.g., reduce homelessness) and Kent County Council (e.g., reduce 
demand on social services and public health).

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. Yes

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? Yes

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People – Put our customers first 
Implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible to all.

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications resulting from this report

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report

Page 30

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding implications resulting from this report

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	5 Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 4 2020/21
	2. Performance & Administration Committee - Q4 2020-21 (Appendix 2)

	6 Information Governance Annual Report 2020/21
	7 Low Income Family Tracker (LIFT) Service



